IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,917

JAN 0 3 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JEAN NADD a/k/a JOHN NADD, JOHN R. NADD and JOHN SCOTT NADD,

Petitioner,

V.

LE CREDIT LYONNAIS, S.A.,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, State of Florida Consolidated Case Nos. 98-01342, 01343

> Philip A. Allen, 111, Florida Bar No. 338575 Felice K. Schonfeld, Florida Bar No. 266523

PHILIP A. ALLEN, III, P.A.

One Biscayne Tower, Suite 1616 Two South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: 786-425-2960 Facsimile: 786-425-2967

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF FONT SIZE

Pursuant to this Court's Administrative Order dated July 13, 1998, Petitioner hereby certifies that this Brief utilizes 12 point Courier New type font, a font that is not proportionately spaced, and that this font type and size results in not more than 10 characters per inch.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This is an appeal from an order of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. That order reversed the trial court order entering final judgments in two actions for Petitioner, John Nadd. The order also certified the following two questions as ones of great public importance, meriting a definitive answer from this Court:

- 1.Does Florida's statute of limitations [§95.11 Fla. Stat. (1995)] bar the registration in Florida, pursuant to the Uniform Foreign Money Judgments Recognition Act (UFMJRA) [§§55.601-55.607, Fla. Stat.], of two money judgments obtained in France in 1978 and 1979?
- 2.If Florida's statute of limitations is applicable, which provision applies: subsection (1) [§95.11(1), Fla. Stat.], which requires that an action (or proceeding) on a judgment or decree of a court of record in this state be brought within twenty years; or subsection (2)(a) [§95.11(2)(a), Fla. Stat.], which requires that an action (or proceeding) on a judgment of a foreign country or another state be brought within five years? 741 So.2d at 1165.

Petitioner respectfully submits that the issues presented by these questions are 1) whether a proceeding for recognition of a foreign judgment under the Uniform Out of Country Foreign Money Judgment Act ("UFMJRA") must be commenced within the five-

year limitations period applicable to civil actions and proceedings on foreign judgments; and 2) if not, whether the UFMJRA, which was enacted in 1994, can be constitutionally applied to revive the right to enforce French judgments as to which the limitations period had expired in 1983 and 1984, in view of this Court's decision in Wiley v. Roof, 641 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 1994).

At the time the Judgments were entered in France, the only means of enforcing a French judgment in Florida was the commencement of a common law action. This right was subject to a five-year limitations period, which runs from the date the judgments were entered in the originating jurisdiction. Fla. Stat. §95.11(2)(a); Turner Murphy Co. v. Specialty Construct., 659 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). LCL did not commence such actions during those five-year limitations periods. Accordingly, the rights to bring the Judgments to Florida for enforcement expired, respectively, on May 9, 1983 and October 1, 1984, by operation of section 95.11(2)(a).

B. Trial Court Proceedings

LCL commenced the instant actions by filing the Judgments and supporting affidavits in the Orange County Circuit Court Clerk's office on October 4, 1995 and October 6, 1995, pursuant to Florida's enactment of the Uniform Out-of-Country Collection of Foreign Money Judgments Act (the "UFMJRA"), section 55.601 et seq., Florida Statutes. At the same time, LCL filed complaints in each action, also seeking recognition and enforcement of the judgments under the UFMJRA. (R.1-2, 15-16). Florida adopted the UFMJRA in 1994, ten and eleven years after the respective expirations of the limitations period for the Judgments' recognition and enforcement in Florida.

As prescribed in section 55.604(2) of the UFMJRA, Nadd timely filed notices of objections to the Judgments' recognition and enforcement within thirty days of their filing. (R.35-37, 38-41). He also filed motions to dismiss the complaints. The objections included defenses grounded on service of process, notice and opportunity to defend, due process and whether French courts would reciprocally enforce a similar Florida judgment.

These defenses included Fla.Stat. §55.605(g), which denies recognition where the foreign jurisdiction would not give recognition to a similar judgment rendered in this state. There is no treaty between the United States and France that would require judgments rendered in the United States to be enforced in France. They also included Fla.Stat. §55.605(2)(a), which denies registration where the Defendant in the proceedings in the foreign court did not receive notice of the proceedings in sufficient time to enable him to defend. Mr. Nadd did not reside at the address where process was served on him by mail at

The objections, and the motions to dismiss the complaints, also included the defense that the actions for recognition were time-barred pursuant to section 95.11(2)(a), Florida Statutes. These defenses raised issues of fact and law for resolution by the circuit court as required by Fla. Stat. §55.604(3).

On December 28, 1995, Nadd served motions for summary judgment in both actions contending, inter alia, that the facts supporting the statute of limitations defense were undisputed and that, therefore, Nadd was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. (R.66-91, 92-110). In opposing the motions, LCL contended that section 95.11(2)(a) did not apply to "proceedings" under the UFMJRA, because "mere proceedings" were not "actions" within the meaning of section 95.11(2)(a). LCL also contended that, if the statute of limitations did apply, it was equitably tolled because, it alleged, Nadd had fled France, moved to Florida and concealed himself by changing his name from "Jean" Nadd to "John" Nadd. (R.133-45). The lower court denied Nadd's summary judgment motion on the ground that the equitable tolling contention presented a material issue of fact. (R.203,

the time such process was allegedly served. As a result, he had no knowledge of the proceedings purportedly commenced through that defective service of process. Similarly, there was no effort made to achieve service of process on the Defendant in any manner that would comport with applicable notions of due process and fundamental fairness. Recognition may be denied on this ground as well. (R. 35-37; 38-41).

205).

Thereafter, Nadd initiated discovery directed towards his defenses and LCL's concealment allegations. On June 10, 1996, LCL moved to have the Judgments recognized pursuant to the UFMJRA. (R.779-856, 857-925). These motions effectively sought summary judgment on all of Nadd's defenses, including the statute of limitations, reciprocity and due process. In response to Nadd's motions to compel related discovery (R.256-91), LCL sought and obtained a stay of all discovery until the lower court could determine whether, as a matter of law, the section 95.11(2)(a) limitations period applied to proceedings under the UFMJRA. (R.451-52, 456-57). Nadd also renewed his summary judgment motion, this time supporting it with an affidavit2 showing that Nadd did not conceal himself in Florida. (R.535-53, 554-72). The parties submitted extensive memoranda of law on all of these issues. (Id.; R.779-856, 857-925, 480-529).

On June 18, 1997, the lower court entered an order resolving

Nadd's affidavit showed, among other things, that Nadd, upon moving from Paris to Pensacola and then Orlando, had left a forwarding address with French postal authorities; had registered with the French Consulate giving his Florida address; was listed in the Pensacola and Orlando phone books as Jean Nadd; that he did not change his name to John until approximately 1992 when he became a United States citizen; and that he was easily located by anyone wishing to find him at all times. (R.329-440).

the issue of the statute of limitations' applicability in Nadd's favor. (R.573-75). Specifically, the court, following the only other UFMJRA decision on point, held that section 95.11(2)(a), the five-year statute of limitations for actions on foreign judgments, was fully applicable to LCL's recognition proceedings under the UFMJRA. The same order denied Nadd's renewed summary judgment motion on the ground that disputed issues of fact existed as to whether Nadd concealed himself in Florida, thereby tolling the limitations period. *Id*.

Upon receipt of this order, Nadd renewed his discovery requests into the factual basis for LCL's fraudulent concealment allegations, and subsequently moved to compel this discovery. (R.576-81, 582-86). Rather than provide this discovery, LCL withdrew its fraudulent concealment allegations, with prejudice. (R.587-615). Accordingly, on April 14, 1998, the lower court entered final judgments in each of the two actions. (R.625, 626). LCL took an appeal from those final orders to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (R.627-30, 631-34).

Vrozos v. Sarantopoulos, 195 Ill. App. 3d 610, 552 NE 2d
1093 (App. Ct. Ill. 1990).

C. Appellate Proceedings

On September 10, 1999, the Fifth District Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order and vacated the final judgments for Nadd. Le Credit Lyonnais, S.A. v. Nadd, 741 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). The appellate court held that the trial court erred in applying section 95.11(2)(a)'s five-year limitations period to bar "registration" under the UFMJRA. It held that

Florida's five-year statute of limitations directed at actions brought on judgments of foreign countries does not apply to the registration, filing or recording of a foreign judgment pursuant to the UFMJRA, and that the applicable statute of limitations are the ones pertinent to Florida's domestic judgments.

741 So.2d at 1172. The court vacated the final judgments for Nadd because the UFMJRA recognition proceeding had been commenced within the twenty-year period applicable to actions on Florida judgments, measured from the date the judgments were entered of record in France. *Id*.

The court began its analysis by stating that there were no decisions in other UFMJRA states addressing this question, and that decisions under the analogous Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act (the "UEFJA", Florida Statutes §55.501 et seq.) had produced "a marvel of diversity and non-uniform results." The court placed these decisions in three categories. The first consisted of jurisdictions that had applied their

statute of limitations applicable to the commencement of actions on foreign judgments to bar "registration" outside that period. 741 So.2d at 1170, citing, e.g., Lawrence v Systems, Inc. v. Superior Feeders, Inc., 880 S.W.2d 203 (Tex.App. 1994). Others, the court noted, had "given more credence to foreign [sister state] judgments under the UEFJA than is due their domestic judgments." Id., citing, e.g., Drllevich Constr., Inc. v. Stock, 958 P.2d 1277, 1998 Ok 39 (Okla. 1991). This "superreciprocity" was achieved by applying the "registration state's" statute of limitations applicable to "enforcement" of domestic judgments, and beginning that period on the date the judgment was "registered" in the forum state. Id. In Florida, this would mean that a foreign judgment would be good for an additional twenty years after it was "registered," and registration could occur for as long as the judgment could be enforced where rendered. Because French judgments are valid in France for thirty years, the judgments at issue here, once "registered," would have a potential life of fifty years under this analysis.

The Fifth DCA rejected both of these approaches in favor of what it termed a "more moderate approach:"

If the foreign judgment is enforceable in the originating jurisdiction, it can be registered in the forum state. But its enforcement and effect in the forum state turns on compliance with the forum state's

statute of limitations, which is applicable to domestic judgments, gauged from the date the judgment was rendered; not the registration date.

741 So.2d at 1171, citing, e.g., Hunter Technology, Inc. v. Scott, 701 P.2d 645 (Colo. App. 1985). The effect of this holding is that LCL's Judgments can be "registered" in Florida at any time within section 95.11(1)'s twenty-year period, but they may not be enforced beyond that point.

The appellate court adopted this approach because, in its view, it best accomplished the legislature's intent, which it described as follows:

achieving enforcement of Florida judgments abroad by according foreign judgments reciprocity of treatment in Florida was the primary purpose for adopting the UFMJRA, as well as the UEFJA.

Id. at 1172. The court reached this view even though section 95.11(2)(a) requires the commencement within five years of an "action" on a judgment and "action" is statutorily defined as "a civil action or proceeding." Fla. Stat. §95.011. Some UEFJA states, such as Georgia, had held their statutes of limitations on actions on judgments to be inapplicable to "mere proceedings" under the uniform law. The plain language of section 95.011, the court acknowledged, meant that this "semantical solution appeared to be unavailable in Florida." 741 So.2d at 1171.

See, e.g., Wright v. Trust Company Bank, 219 Ga. App. 551, 466 S.E.2d 74 (Ga. App. 1995)

The Fifth DCA's alternative "solution" to section 95.11(2)(a)'s clear applicability to UFMJRA proceedings was to simply reject the result mandated by the statutes' words, suggesting that such words could take on different meanings when viewed "in the large context of the text." 741 So.2d at 1172 (emphasis added). From this "large context of the text," the court concluded that section 95.11(2)(a)'s five-year period would not apply to UFMJRA recognition proceedings because that would run counter to the Legislature's goal of achieving reciprocity.

Freed from the constraints of the statutes' plain language, the court adopted, for proceedings on foreign judgments, the twenty-year limitations period for actions on judgments of "a court of record of this state." Fla. Stat. § 95.11(1). The court did not address the obvious conflict between this holding and section 95.11(1)'s express applicability to Florida judgments. Instead, the court selected the twenty-year period because it apparently believed that a foreign judgment became a Florida judgment upon its "filing, registration or recording." This is apparent in its companion holding that this twenty-year period would commence on the date the judgment was rendered in France, the equivalent of the entry of a Florida judgment. This would mean that the French judgment would receive no greater dignity, that is, enforceable life, than a Florida judgment,

thereby avoiding "super-reciprocity." 741 So.2d at 1172.

The court did not address Nadd's argument that its result was barred by this Court's decision in Wiley v. Roof, 641 So.2d 66 (Fla. 1994). In Wiley, this Court held 1) that a due process property right attaches to the expiration of an applicable limitations period; and 2) that any subsequent legislative attempt to revive that extinguished right violates due process. The UFMJRA was not enacted until 1994, some ten and eleven years after the right to commence common law actions on the 1978 and 1979 Judgments had, in fact, expired under section 95.11(2)(a). Accordingly, the Fifth DCA's holding had the effect of extending the applicable limitations period from five to twenty years, thereby reviving LCL's long-expired rights to enforce its French judgments in Florida. This is the very result Wiley prohibits.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellate court erred in two general respects. First, the court rejected the result mandated by the plain language of the UFMJRA and 95.11(2)(a), because it found that result to be inconsistent with its view of the legislature's true intent: the achievement of reciprocity of enforcement for Florida judgments in foreign countries. The legislature's intent, however, must always be determined by giving the statute's words their plain and ordinary meaning. Where these words are unambiguous, the court is not free to engage in statutory construction at all.

This is always the case where, as here, the legislature has chosen to define the statute's terms. The appellate court's error is manifest in its characterization of the contrary result as the product of an "over-emphasis on definitions of words." The correct result is that mandated by the legislature's words, regardless of the court's view of the wisdom of that result.

Beyond this error, the court's analysis proceeded from the mistaken premise that the UFMJRA authorizes domestic enforcement upon the completion of the clerical task of "registration, filing or recording." 741 So.2d at 1172. In fact, the UFMJRA sets forth procedures for the judicial resolution of defenses to recognition, after notice and a hearing on objections to recognition and enforcement, if any are made. "Recognition" is not achieved unless and until these objections are waived or judicially resolved. If issue is joined on these objections, the circuit court, after appropriate proceedings to resolve questions of law and fact, must enter an order granting or denying recognition. It is only after this proceeding is completed in favor of the judgment creditor that the foreign judgment may be "recognized."

A recognition proceeding under the UFMJRA is, therefore, an "action [proceeding] on a foreign judgment" that must be commenced within five years after the judgment is entered in the foreign country. $Fla.\ Stat.\ \S95.11(2)(a)$. Once recognition is

achieved, the foreign judgment may be enforced in the same manner as a Florida judgment. $Fla.\ Stat.\ \S55.604(5)$. It is at this point that the twenty-year statute applicable to actions on judgments of the courts of this state applies to limit enforcement to twenty years. $Fla.\ Stat.\ \S95.11(1)$.

The appellate court's decision is also contrary to the weight of authority from other jurisdictions. The only other decision addressing the limitations issue under the UFMJRA, as enacted in Florida, is Vrozos v. Sarantopoulos, 195 Ill. App. 3d 610, 552 NE 2d 1093 (Ill. App. Ct. 1990). It holds that a proceeding for recognition must be commenced within the same period applicable to actions on foreign country judgments. Fifth cited *Vrozos*, but DCA did not acknowledge the applicability of its holding. 741 So.2d at 1168, n.19.

Similarly, a thirteen state majority holds that a UEFJA proceeding for recognition of sister state judgment must be commenced within the same limitations period applicable to common law actions to enforce foreign judgments. Further, of the minority states, most turn on the distinction between an "action" and "proceeding," a distinction that is unavailable in Florida, given section 95.011's definition of "action" as a "civil action or proceeding."

Second, the court gave the 1994 enactment of the UFMJRA retroactive application, as it held that this enactment allowed

enforcement of 1978 and 1979 French judgments some ten and eleven years after the right to commence common law actions on those judgments had undeniably expired. Even if the legislature had intended that section 95.11(2)(a) would not apply to UFMJRA proceedings, there is no indication that the legislature also intended to revive the right to enforce foreign judgments as to which the limitations period had already expired. And if that had been intended, the statute would violate Nadd's due process rights as established by this Court's decision in Wiley v. Roof, supra.

III. <u>STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION</u>

The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida arises under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, as the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeals has certified the two questions set forth above to be questions of great public importance. Le Credit Lyonnais v. Nadd, 741 So.2d 1165, 1165 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). This Court has deferred a determination of its jurisdiction, and has ordered that the parties submit briefs on the merits, addressing those questions. Accordingly, Petitioner has not separately briefed the question of jurisdiction. However, it is respectfully submitted that the importance of the certified questions is self-evident from the points and authorities set forth in this brief.

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. CONTROLLING PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION MANDATE APPLICATION OF SECTION 95.11(2)(a)'s FIVE-YEAR LIMITATIONS PERIOD TO RECOGNITION PROCEEDINGS UNDER THE UFMJRA
 - 1. Controlling Principles of Statutory Construction

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