ORIGINAL

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

FEB 2 4 MOO

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,917

JEAN NADD, a/k/a JOHN NADD, JOHN R. NADD and JOHN SCOTT NADD.

Petitioner,

V .

LE CREDIT LYONNATS, S.A.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, State of Florida Consolidated Case Nos. 98-01342, 01343

Robert M. Trien

THE LAW OFFICE OF ROBERT M. TRIEN 750 Lexington Avenue Suite 600

New York, N.Y. 10022 Tel: (212) 593-0900 Fax: (212) 751-6534

Attorney for Respondent Le Credit Lyonnais, S.A. Myles H. Malman
Fla. Bar No.0776084

MALMAN & ASSOCIATES
12955 Biscayne Boulevard,
Suite 202

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

Williams, also decided by a Georgia court, similarly held

that the local five-year statute on actions to enforce foreign judgments is not applicable to domestication under Georgia's Uniform Law. In none of the above three cases was there any discussion about the application of the local statute of limitations on domestic judgments.

In the fourth case, Johnson v. Johnson, supra, the Illinois court held that, pursuant to the terms of the Uniform Law, "a foreign judgment filed under this section is treated as an Illinois judgment, and that, as a consequence, the limitations period for enforcing a judgment applied, rather than the five-year statute on other actions." The court expressly stated that it did not reach the issue of when the limitations period began to run.

Accordingly, the DCA cited no authority for what it described as a "moderate approach" of applying the statute of limitations on domestic judgments, gauged from the date the judgment was rendered in the foreign jurisdiction. Respondent is aware of no such authority.

C. This Court Should Follow Colorado Which
Permitted The Filing And Enforcement Of A
Foreign Judgment Which Was Enforceable In
The Foreign Jurisdiction By Virtue Of That
Jurisdiction's 30-Year Statute of Limitation,
Although Colorado Had A Shorter Statute.

A case closely on point with the issues raised in this case is Milhoux v. Linder, 902 P.2d 856 (Colo.App. 1995) in which the plaintiff filed for recognition and sought enforcement of a Belgium judgment pursuant to Colorado's Uniform Foreign Money-Judgments Recognition Act. The defendants there contended that the trial court erred in recognizing the Belgium judgment because they were unfairly burdened in their defense as a result of Belgium's 30-year statute of limitations which they argued was repugnant to Colorado's public policy.

The Milhoux court held that the Colorado version of UFMJRA, for reasons not here relevant, was not applicable but that the Belgium judgment could be recognized and enforced under common law principles of comity. The court held that the statute of limitations applicable in Belgium which permitted enforcement of Belgium's judgments for 30 years, was a mere difference in the "practice" and "procedural system" which was not a sufficient basis for non-recognition, and stated:

. . . [C]ourts in the United States normally will not deny recognition merely because the law or practice of the foreign country differs, even if markedly from that of the recognition forum. See Hunt v. BP

Exploration Co. (Libya) Ltd., supra; Uniform Foreign Money-Judgments Recognition Act § 4 (comment) 13 Uniform Laws Annot. 268 (1986) (A mere difference in the procedural system is not a sufficient basis for non-recognition. A case of serious injustice must be involved.). As Judge Cardozo observed: "We are not so provincial as to say that every solution of a problem is wrong because we deal with it otherwise at home." Loucks v. Standard Oil Co., 224 N.Y. 99, 110-11, 120 N.E. 198, 201 (1918).

As have numerous other courts, we conclude that an appropriate standard is that set forth in the Restatement (Second) of Conflicts § 117 comment c (1971). Under this standard, the public policy exception is limited to "situations where the original claim is repugnant to fundamental notions of what is decent and just" in the recognition forum. See Ackerman v. Levine, supra; Tahan v. Hodgson, supra; Pariente v. Scott Meredith Literary Agency, Inc., supra. (Id. at 861.)

The Colorado court concluded:

Here, defendants have failed to demonstrate that Belgium's longer statute of limitations caused any burden that was repugnant to fundamental notions of what is decent and just. ($\underline{\text{Id.}}$ at 861.)

The UFMJRA incorporates the "public policy" basis for refusing to recognize the judgment of a foreign country. Sec. 55.605(2)(c) provides that a foreign judgment need not be recognized if the claim for relief upon which the judgment is based is "repugnant to the public policy of the state."

No finding was made by the DCA, nor should it be made, that France's 30-year statute of limitations is repugnant to fundamental notions of what is considered decent and just in Florida. Accordingly, it was error for the DCA to have held

that Florida's 20-year statute of limitations would, in effect, supercede France's 30-year statute. To the contrary, Fla. Stat. § 55.603 requires that Florida recognize foreign judgments which are "enforceable where rendered."

D. This Court Should Adopt The Approach Of Cases
Which Hold That Local Statutes Of Limitation
Do Not Bar Filings Under The Federal Registration
Statute And UEFJA And That Registration State Statutes
On Domestic Judgments Run From The Date
The Judgment Is Recognized In The Registration State

Both UFMJRA and UEFJA are patterned after the simplified filing procedures which have been and continue to be in use in the Federal Courts. See 28 U.S.C. § 1962, 1963. Under the Federal procedure, a judgment of a District Court of one State may be registered in the District Court of a sister State. The registered judgment then becomes a new judgment of the court in which the "foreign" judgment was registered. As was stated by then Circuit Judge Harry A. Blackmun (later United States Supreme Court Justice Blackmun) in Stanford v. Utley, 341 F.2d 265 (8th Cir. 1965):

concluded that 1963 is § more than "ministerial" and is more than a mere procedural device for the collection of the foreign judgment. feel that registration provides, so far as enforcement is concerned, the equivalent of a new judgment of the registration court. In other words, for the present fact situation and for enforcement purposes, the Missouri federal registration equated with a new Missouri federal judgment on the original Mississippi federal judgment, that is, it is no different than a

judgment timely obtained by action in Missouri federal Court on that Mississippi judgment.

341 F.2d at 268 (emphasis added). Judge Blackmun therefor held that the applicable statute of limitations is that which applies to domestic judgments of the "registration" state, and that the statute begins to run from the date of the registration of the new judgment.

The courts of many States interpreting UEFJA have construed the act in conformity with the federal policy articulated in Stanford v. Utley, supra, by treating the filed judgment as a new judgment of the registration State and by applying the statute of limitations on the enforcement of domestic judgments, gauged from the time the new judgment was obtained by filing pursuant to the Uniform Act.

The first case to address the issue of whether the statute of limitations on the bringing of actions on sister-state judgments applies to the filing of judgments of sister-states pursuant to the procedures of UEFJA, was Producers Grain Corporation v. J.D. Carroll, 546 P.2d 285 (Okla.Ct.App. 1976). The judgment creditor there sought to have its sister-state judgment recognized under the Oklahoma version of UEFJA after Oklahoma's three-year statute of limitations on actions to enforce foreign judgments had expired. The lower court in

Carroll refused to recognize the judgment, holding that the three-year statute was applicable. The Oklahoma Court of Appeals in Carroll noted that the issue had not then been resolved in any of the States that had adopted the 1964 version of the UEFJA. It reviewed the legislative history of that Act and concluded that the statute of limitations on the bringing of "actions" to enforce foreign judgments had no application to the filing procedures under the Oklahoma version of the Uniform Act.

The court stated:

[The statute of limitations] applies to civil actions on a foreign judgment and a proceeding under the Act is not a civil action within the meaning of [the statute of limitations]. Indeed, as we noted above, the Act was designed to provide a viable alternative to the traditional method of enforcing foreign judgments by a separate lawsuit in which the judgment was considered nothing more than a contract debt; it totally lacked the force of a domestic judgment, except for evidentiary purposes. [Citation omitted.] The Act does not involve the institution of an action to enforce the judgment; it requires, to give the foreign judgment immediate legally enforceable consequences, only that it be filed in accordance with its provisions. 546 P.2d at 287 (emphasis added).

The ${\it Carroll}$ court concluded that under the Oklahoma version of UEFJA,

transfers the properly authenticated foreign judgment into an Oklahoma judgment. Adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard are, of course, mandatory, but unless the judgment debtor comes forward with some sufficient reason with striking the judgment, it may be enforced against him in the same manner as any

<u>intra-state judgment.</u> (<u>Id.</u> at 287.)

Id. Thus, the Carroll court noted that the Oklahoma version of UEFJA transformed the foreign judgment into a domestic judgment, to which the statute of limitations for domestic Oklahoma judgments is applicable and begins to run upon recognition of the filed judgment.

In arriving at its conclusion, the *Carroll* court examined the legislative history, noting that the original version of UEFJA, which was promulgated by the Commissioners on Uniform State Laws in 1948, included a provision that expressly made the filing of foreign judgments subject to the local statute of limitations on the bringing of actions to enforce foreign judgments. The 1948 provision referred to and quoted by the Carroll court was as follows:

On application made within the time allowed for bringing an action on a foreign judgment in this state, any person entitled to bring such action may have a foreign judgment registered in any court of this state having jurisdiction of such an action. (Id. at 288.)

The <u>Carroll</u> court went on to note that in 1964 the Uniform Act was radically altered. Most importantly, the above quoted provision was eliminated. Oklahoma, like Florida, adopted the 1964 version of the Uniform Act. The <u>Carroll</u> court pointed out:

Under the 1948 Act, then, the statute of limitations applicable to suits on foreign judgments governs the

institution of an enforcement proceeding. If, therefore, Oklahoma were one of the states which have retained the 1948 Act the trial court's judgment would be correct. But Oklahoma never adopted the 1948 Act; it adopted instead the 1964 Revised Act, which represents a radical departure from the earlier effort. Section 2 of the Revised Act completely omits any reference to the statute of limitations. Under this Section, which is codified at 12 O.S. 1971, s 721 (quoted above), the mere filing of an authenticated foreign judgment gives the judgment the same effect 'as a judgment of the District court of any county of this state.' (Id. at 288.)

UFMJRA contains a similar provision to that in the Oklahoma statute. Fla. Stat. § 55.604(5) provides that the filed judgment, when recognized, "shall be enforced in the same manner as the judgment of a court of this state."

The Carroll court concluded that "[t]he Revised Act essentially adopts the Federal practice . . . ," as enunciated in Stanford v. Utley, supra., stating that:

Since an enforcement proceeding under the Act is not a civil action within the meaning of Section 95 and since the express terms and statutory purposes of the Revised Act indicate unequivocally that the statute of limitations has no application to a proceeding under the Act, we hold that the trial court erred by striking Producers' judgment from the judgment docket. (Id. at 288.)¹⁰

That the registration state's statutes of limitations has no application to the procedures relating to the filing of a judgment pursuant to UFMJRA, is also apparent from the fact that the grounds for non-recognition set forth in § 55.605 do not include any ground that the judgment is barred by a statute of limitation.

The UFMJRA follows the federal practice, by looking to the statute of limitations of the jurisdiction that rendered the foreign judgment. Abandoning the practice followed in the 1948 version of UEFJA, which expressly made applicable the local statute of limitations on the bringing of actions to enforce foreign judgments, the Commissioners on Uniform State Laws did not include the requirement which was contained in the 1948 version of UEFJA that the filing need be within the time required by the statute of limitations on the bringing of actions on foreign judgments.

Other cases which have similarly held include Pan Energy v. Martin, 813 P.2d 1142 (Utah 1991), in which the Utah Supreme Court noted that UEFJA adopted by Utah is consistent with the approach taken by the federal courts in Stanford v. Utley, supra. The Pan Energy court referred to that part of the Utah statute which provides, again like Fla. Stat. § 55.604(5) and (6), that the court "shall treat the foreign judgment in all respects as a judgment of a district court." The court concluded:

We agree with the approach taken by the federal courts and hold that, at least for the purposes of enforcement, the filing of a foreign judgment under [the Utah version of the uniform Act] creates a new Utah judgment which is governed by the Utah statute of limitations (on Utah domestic judgments). Because Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-22 (1987) establishes an

eight-year statute of limitations for the enforcement of judgments, <u>foreign judgments filed in Utah must</u> also be governed by the eight-year statute of <u>limitations</u>, which runs from the date of filing.

* * *

The Utah Foreign Judgment Act simply requires that foreign judgments filed in the state be treated the same as local judgments in all respects, including the applicable statute of limitations regarding enforcement. Pan Energy, 813 P.2d at 1144.

The Pan Energy case was cited with approval, and discussed at length in Drllevich Construction, Inc. v. Stock, 958 P.2d 1277 (Sup.Ct. Okla. 1998). The court there stated:

The oft cited Pan Energy v. Martin, 813 P.2d 1142 (Utah 1991) provides an example of the most often used policy regarding the time limitations within which a foreign judgment must be enforced.

Pointing out that the Utah Supreme Court had held that the filing of a foreign judgment created a new Utah judgment and that Utah's eight-year statute of limitations was applied from the date of that new judgment, the court further stated:

The Utah Supreme Court noted that its interpretation creating a new Utah judgment, upon the proper registration of a foreign judgment, was consistent with the approach taken by federal courts in their application of 28 U.S.C. § 1963, a similar federal registration statute. n3. The Utah court noted a line of federal cases which found a new judgment was created with the registration of a foreign judgment. Id. (citing Stanford v. Utley, 341 F.2d 265, 268 (8th Cir. 1965) (Judge, later Justice, Blackmun wrote, "We feel that registration provides, so far as enforcement is concerned, the equivalent of a new judgment of the registration court.", emphasis added); United States

v. Palmer, 609 F. Supp. 544, 548 (E.D.Tenn. 1985); Dichter v. Disco Corp., 606 F. Supp. 721, 724 (S.D.Ohio 1984); Anderson v. Tucker, 68 F.R.D. 461, 463 (D.Conn. 1975); Juneau Spruce Corp. v. Int'l Longshoremen's & Warehousemen's Union, 128 F.Supp. 715, 717 (N.D.Cal. 1955)).

The Drllevich court further stated:

Other jurisdictions with holdings similar to that of Energy include: The Texas Supreme dismissing an appeal for want of jurisdiction held that when a creditor proceeds under the Uniform Enforcement of Judgments Act, "the filing of the foreign judgment comprises both a plaintiff's original petition and a final judgment." Walnut Equipment Leasing Co. v. Wu, 920 S.W.2d 285, 286 (Tex. 1996); The Supreme Court of Nevada, citing Pan Energy v. Martin and others, found "that when a party files a valid foreign judgment in Nevada, it constitutes a new the purposes of action for the statute limitations." Trubenbach v. Amstadter, 109 Nev. 297, 849 P.2d 288, 290 (Nev. 1993). See also Galef v. Buena Vista Dairy, 117 N.M. 701, 875 P.2d 1132 (N.M.Ct.App. 1994); Mee v. Sprague, 144 Misc.2d 1057, 545 N.Y.S.2d 268 (N.Y.Sup. 1989); Payne v. Claffy, 281 S.C. 385, 315 S.E.2d 814 (S.C.Ct.App. 1984); Warner v. Warner, 9 Kan. App. 2d 6, 668 P. 2d 193, 195 (Kan. Ct. App. 1983) ("registration of a foreign judgment which is enforceable when registered gives the judgment creditor a new and additional five years to execute, regardless of when the judgment was rendered in the foreign state.").

The Drllevich court then concluded:

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